# 2009 CA 00537 SCT T

#### CAUSE NUMBER 2009-CA-00537 CIVIL DOMESTIC RELATIONS

The undersigned WILLIAM TIMOTHY WHITE certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

(Here list names of all such persons and identify their connection and interest.)

Tracey B. Farrell 917 North James St. McComb, Ms. 39648

Pro Se

##

NATURE OF THE CASE:

CIVIL-DOMESTIC RELATIONS

TRIAL COURT DISPOSITION:

WILLIAM TIMOTHY WHITE WAS FOND

IN CONTEMPT FOR FAILURE TO PAY TRACEY FARRELL PROPER CHILD

SUPPORT.

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION: DENIED 3/23/2009

1. This is an appeal from the Chancery Court of Pike County, Mississippi, that went before the Family Master Lem Mitchell, where William Timothy White (White) was found in contempt for failure to pay support payments. Aggrieved by that decision, White has appealed. White presents eight issues for this Court's consideration:

I.

Whether the effective date of the increase in payments was considered to be March 1, or May 1, 2008?

II.

Whether the Custody Order filed on April 18, 2008, clearly instructed White of when the increase in child support was to begin?

III.

Whether White should be found in contempt and due \$785.00 for failing to comply with an ambiguous order in which the Court found the effective date for support increase to be on March 1<sup>st</sup> instead of May 1<sup>st</sup>, 2008?

#### IV.

Did the court error in including a \$250.00 payment for August 2007 in calculating the amount in arrearage, when White was previously found not in contempt on a Motion for Contempt filed by Farrell, on February 15, 2008, which included the payment in question?

#### V.

Whether the mere fact, that Farrell claims to have filed her 2007 IRS returns prior to the ruling by the Chancery Court on February 19, 2008, constitute reason enough for the court to not revisit the previous order of which was ambiguous as to whether White could begin to exercise his rights in 2007 or 2008?

#### VI.

Whether money spent on behalf of the children by White, for school activities and recreational activities, with Farrell approving and having knowledge of these payments, can be considered as child support?

#### VII.

Whether the court was in error when calculating support payments due by using time periods that were not within the April 14, 2008 through August 31, 2008 time frame as requested in the DHS petitioned?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 26, 2006 a Petition to Establish Paternity, Child Custody, and For Other Relief, cause number 2004-61, was filed by White in order to establish paternity and gain custody of his daughter Alexandre White and to modify his previous agreed order dated April 5, 2005, concerning Blaine White from joint physical and legal to full custody. (Exc. -84,85).

On December 11, 2006 a hearing before the Chancery Court of Pike County resulted in an Agreed Temporary Order that gave White alternating weekly visitation with Alexandre White and increased his previous support payments from \$400.00 to \$500.00 per month to begin December 15, 2006 for both children. The previous Agreed Order on

April 5, 2005 had given White alternating weekly visitation along with joint physical and legal custody of Blaine White. (R-p. 8-11)

Copies of payments to Farrell or on Farrell's behalf were provided to the Chancery Court by White documenting payments over and above the ordered child support that totaled more than \$13,000.00.

Counsel for Farrell filed an Amended Motion for Citation of Contempt on February 15, 2008 raising several issues but the item relevant to this appeal is the August 2007 claim of failing to pay support in the amount of \$250.00. (Exc.- p.90-92)

On February 19, 2008 the Chancery Court of Pike County rendered an opinion in the custody case of White v. Farrell in reference to their two minor children Blaine and Alexandre White. (Exc.- p.93-113)

In the aforementioned ruling the Chancellor first addressed the February 15, 2008, Motion for Citation of Contempt and found White not to be in contempt of any claims made by Farrell. (Exc. - p.93)

In the February 19, 2008 order the chancellor increased White's child support payments from \$500.00 per month to \$670.00 per month. The order failed to specify a specific date the increase would need to begin being paid by White, unlike the two previous custody orders which gave specific dates. (R - p. 14), (Exc. p. 17)

Evidence of Farrell's 8.05 and testimony before the court verified she was unemployed and had been since the relationship with White began in February 1998.

In light of the aforementioned fact of Farrell's unemployment the court ruled that, White, would be entitled to claim both children as dependants until such time Farrell can no longer claim her oldest son Mikey and she becomes gainfully employed. Prior to the November 2006 proceedings, there was no between the two parties as to which party could claim either of the children. (R- p. 13), (Exc. p. 112)

The December 11, 2006 Agreed Temporary Order resulted in the two parents sharing custody for the entire year of 2007 due to the initial cause not concluding until February 19, 2008. (R. - 8)

The final Custody Order was signed by the Chancery Court Chancellor on April 14, 2008 and filed with the Clerk of Court on April 18, 2008. (R- 12, 14)

White did not receive a copy of the prepared order until May 5, 2008.

For reasons unknown, Farrell's counsel, Mark Holmes, failed to prepare the Custody Order within the 10 days in accordance with Rule 5.04 of the Uniform Chancery Court Rules. R. -14, 40) (Exc. 114)

On October 8, 2008, Department of Human Services of the State of Mississippi, ("DHS") represented by Russell Holmes, filed a Petition For Contempt and Other Relief unto the Chancery Court of Pike County, against White. (R-4-18)

The aforementioned petition by DHS only petitioned the court to review support payments due from 04/14/2008, through August 31,2008. (R-4)

Additionally the DHS petition filed included hand written notes in paragraph 2, "The Court increased the child support on April 14, 2008. in "Exhibit A1". (R-4)

The aforementioned DHS petition came on for hearing before the Family Master, Lem Mitchell, of the Chancery Court of Pike County on February 12, 2009.

During the said hearing DHS argued that the increase in child support of \$170.00 was effective March 1, 2008, and not the April 14, 2008 as DHS had previously noted in their original petition.

Additionally DHS argued that White owed \$250.00 for a support payment that was returned without White's knowledge in August 2007. This same payment was part of a the Motion for Contempt filed by Farrell on February 15, 2008 before the Chancery Court Chancellor, in which White was not found to be in contempt.

At conclusion of said hearing the Family Master requested both parties to submit written arguments as to their position of the effective date of when the \$170.00 increase should have began being paid by White and why White should and should not be found to be in contempt.

White submitted and filed a response on Feb 17, 2009 in support of his belief that the 1<sup>st</sup> increase in payment was due on May 1, 2008. In his argument he argued that under M.R.C.P. Rule 58, a judgment is not considered to be in effect until such time it is entered as provided in M.R.C.P. Rule 79(a) and sited Scally v Scally, mandated 01/08/2002 ruling by the Mississippi Court of Appeals. (R-23-29)

White also argued that DHS had failed to prove that if any support was in arrearage then it was an amount less than the required monthly payment of \$670.00 per month and should not be found in contempt because these amounts were less than 30 days delinquent.

DHS counsel, Russell Holmes, also offered a response to the Family Master's request in the form of a letter that was not filed with the clerk of court, dated February 19, 2009. In his response he argued that the bench opinion of the Court became legally effective on the time and date rendered by the Court, February 19, 2009. (Exc. -114,115)

Additionally Mr. Holmes notated that the order was not signed by the Chancellor until April 14, 2008 and not filed with the Chancery Clerk until April 18, 2008. He also

address that counsel for Farrell, Mark Holmes did not prepare the order in accordance with Rule 5.04 of the Uniform Chancery Court Rules. (Exc. – 114,115)

DHS also conceded that the Court did not state a specific month for the child support to start and there was ambiguity in the start date. (R. - 58,59)

On or about February 27, 2009 a opinion was forwarded to White and DHS as to the findings of the Chancery Court Family Master, Lem Mitchell.

On March 4, 2009, White filed a Motion For Reconsideration unto the Chancery Court of Pike County. (R-40-57)

On March 12, 2009 a Judgment was filed by the Family Master, it was signed by Lem Mitchell on March 4, 2009 and signed by the Chancellor Debbra Halford on March 8, 2009. (R. -58-61)

The Judgment found that White was in contempt for failing to make the proper support payments and ordered him to pay \$785.00 to bring the support current through August 31, 2008. (R-58-61)

In calculating the amount due the Family Master went back to December 15, 2006, which was not within the time frame properly petitioned before the court. (R-59)

In the Petition for Contempt before the Family Master, DHS, ask for the court to review the amount due from April 14, 2008 through August 31, 2008, in item 3 of original Petition by DHS on October 8, 2008.

Included item 3 of the Family Master's Judgment, he notated that neither the Bench Opinion nor the Signed Custody Order specified what date the increase in child support was to begin. (R. -58-59)

In item number 4 of the Judgment the Family Master stated "This Court finds that the **effective** date of the order increasing child support from \$500.00 to \$670.00 per month was March 1, 2008. (R. -59)

In addressing the White's position that the Chancery Court Custody Order filed on April 18, 2008 gave him the right to claim the children on his 2007 tax returns as well as any future returns, the Family Master seem to merely take the position that because Farrell had supposedly filed her returns prior to the February 19, 2009 opinion, that she was entitled to claim both children for 2007.

Finally the judgment did not view payments for school and recreational expenses paid by White to be child support.

On March 23, 2009 Family Master, Lem Mitchell and Chancery Court Chancellor, Debbra Halford signed and filed a Order Denying Motion For Reconsideration filed by White.

Now White prays unto Supreme Court of Mississippi, through his timely appeal filed on March 30, 2009, to reverse the decision of the lower court and find in favor of White.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

White offered unto the Chancery Court, Family Master, Lem Mitchell, that he and DHS read the February 19, 2008 custody order differently in reference to when the Court Order became effective and when White was required to begin paying the increase of \$170.00 per month. Said order was not signed until April 14<sup>th</sup>, and not filed until April 18, 2008, and the failure of the Court or the Order to State a Specific date increase was to commence causes issue. The order for reasons unknown was not prepared in the 10 days allowed and this fact leads White to believe his increase was due May 1, 2008 not March 1, 2008 as DHS now argues.

White contends that with Ms. Farrell claiming the children on her 2007 tax returns that it has cost him \$3,610.00 and that these amounts should have been credited to White for support payments.

White also contends that extra money spent outside of the Custody Order, on the children's behalf for school and recreational activity should be credited toward White's child support obligations.

Finally White presented several issues as to why the February 19, 2008 Custody Order was ambiguous and on certain facts DHS also argued that ambiguity existed. In fact without using the word ambiguous the Mr. Mitchell addressed the failure of the Bench opinion and the Custody orders failure to specify a date.

#### ARGUEMENT

White was involved in a tedious custody battle with Tracey Farrell that began with the birth of their son Blaine White in November of 2003. In April 2005 White and Farrell agreed to joint physical and legal custody of Blaine in which White agreed to pay \$400.00 per month in child support. Unfortunately due to a history of abuse of narcotics and alcohol by Farrell the two parties were never wed. Her abuse resulted in an arrest and Farrell entered drug court going through rehab. During this time the two parties attempted to reconcile. During that period an additional child was conceived their daughter Alexandre in November 2005.

White continued to attempt to reconcile but to no avail and in November 2006, White felt that the only solution was to petition the court for custody of both children. On December 11, 2006 a hearing before the Chancery Court of Pike County resulted in a Temporary Order giving both parents equal time with the children and increasing White's child support from \$400 to \$500 per month payable on the 1<sup>st</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> of each month.

During the hearing White presented unto the court documents totaling more than \$25,000 in child support payments made to Farrell or on behalf of Farrell. This amount exceeded the ordered Child support in excess of \$13,000. This evidence is not before this court but is offered as to a possible explanation as to why the court did not find White in contempt on a Motion filed by Farrell on February 15, 2008 as follows (Exc. p 90-92, 93).

On February 15, 2008, Farrell filed a Motion for Contempt against White in which she made several claims but the one relative to this action is the claim of a returned check in August 2007.

After a fifteen month battle a final order was rendered on February 19, 2008. On this day the court first ruled on the motion for contempt and the Chancellor, found White not to be in contempt and is reflected in the court transcripts in paragraph 1. (Exc. 93)

In the ruling the court failed to identify any material change that would allow for a modification of the order previously agreed to in reference to Blaine but in an attempt to bring piece to the children White did not appeal the Courts ruling on Custody.

The relevant matters before this court that were included in the February 19, 2008 ruling include: 1. The court increasing the child support an additional \$170 to \$670 per month. 2. The failure of Farrell's counsel to prepare the Custody Order in the 10 days as required by Uniform Chancery Court Rule 5.04. 3. The Custody Order giving White the right to claim both children as dependants for tax purposes but failed to be specific as to whether that included the year 2007 that the two parties spent in litigation or if it was to start in 2008.

White did not receive a copy of the signed and filed Custody order until May 5, 2008 some 76 days after the opinion and 55 days after it's filing date of April 18, 2008.

Previous to receiving the Custody Order White filed a 2007 return and was notified that his return was being rejected because another party had claimed the children for 2007. After attempting to contact Ms. Farrell for more than three weeks, to determine if she had claimed the children, Ms Farrell informed White that she had claimed both and that he was not to be able to claim the children until 2008. White disagreed with Ms. Farrell's position and his attempts to resolve this matter with Farrell were unsuccessful.

This difference of opinion resulted in Ms. Farrell contacting DHS claiming that White should have been paying the increased support payments in March 2008.

In the DHS, Petition for Contempt an Other Relief, hand written notes made note that the increased child support began on April, 14, 2008. White would agree that the increase in support payments took effect in April but would avear that the effective date was actually April 18, 2008, which was the filing date of the Custody Order. (R.-4)

White would offer as he did in his Defendant's filed February 17, 2009, "Response To Court Request For Evidentiary Support and Request for Relief", that a Judgment in not considered to be in effect under M.R.C.P. Rule 58, until such time it is entered as provided in M.R.C.P. 79(a).

Additionally is same said Response, White offered in defense case law Scally v. Scally Mandated 01/08/2002 ruling by the Mississippi Court of Appeals, stating, "The signing date of the judgment in not the entry date. It becomes **effective** only {"when entered as provided in M.R.C.P. 79(a)."}, and citing Rule 58 of M.R.C.P.

White was under the opinion that being that Ms. Farrell had testified and sworn on her 8.05 that she was and had been unemployed that Ms. Farrell would have no reason to file a return for 2007.

Upon receiving said Custody Order, White, notice modifications to the order that were not part of the opinion rendered by the court, ie (If the two parties can not agree on the summer visitation then White shall have the first two weeks of the month).

White avears that the order was ambiguous as to when increased payments were intended to begin, and due to some 55 days elapsing before the order was signed and another 4 days before it was filed with the clerk of court, White would avear that the increase of \$170.00 in child support would not have been due until the first applicable payment date after the April 18, 2008 filing date, which would be May 1, 2008.

White also avears that had the order not also been ambiguous in reference to the tax returns he would have received \$2,578.00 in a refund for 2007 IRS returns instead of having to pay \$1,032.00 for a total expense to him of \$3,610.00

White aveared in his March 4, 2009 Motion for Reconsideration, that the February 19, 2009 Custody order was ambiguous and therefore he should not be found in willful contempt, and that the rule finds that an order found to be ambiguous should be found in favor of the party not preparing such order.

Additionally White offered a defense in case law as to willful contempt in *Ellis v. Ellis*, 840 So. 2d 806, 811 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App.2003) (citing *Davis v. Davis*, 829 So. 2d 712, 714 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)). White states that it follows that if the order was unclear, then White cannot be held in willful contempt for failure to comply.

White also argued in the Motion for Reconsideration that the Farrell's counsel, Mark Holmes for preparing the order and violated Rule 5.04 of the Uniform Chancery Court

Rules and that Mark Holmes had made modifications to said Custody order that were not in the Chancellor's ruling.

White would also avear that had Chancellor held Mark Holmes accountable in preparing the order in the time allowed by Rule 5.04 of the Uniform Chancery Court Rules, his payments would have been due in March and therefore the matter concerning March and April 2008 support payments, would not be before the Mississippi Appeals Court now.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court should review the Chancery Court's finding that the effective date the increase in support payments due by White to begin on March 1, 2008 instead of May 1, 2008, using a De Novo review of M.R.C.P. Rule 54, 58 and 79(a).

The Court should review the Chancery Court's ruling as to if White received clear instructions, as to when the increased support payments should begin, using a Substantial evidence standard of review. (R-17)

The Court should review the Chancery Court's finding of White in contempt by using the clearly erroneous and substantial evidence review. Citing *Ellis v. Ellis*, 840 So. 2d 806, 811 (¶18) (Miss. Ct. App.2003) (citing *Davis v. Davis*, 829 So. 2d 712, 714 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002)). It follows that if the order was unclear, then White cannot be held in willful contempt for failure to comply.

The Court should review the Chancery Court's finding of White to be liable for the \$250.00 August 2007 payment using substantial evidence and clearly erroneous standard. (Exc. 93).

The Court should review the Chancery Courts decision not allow White the right to claim the dependant children for the tax year 2007 simply because Farrell claims to have filed her returns prior to the February 19, 2008, Custody Order, using an abuse of discretion standard.

The Court should review the Chancery Courts decision that additional money spent by White for school and recreational activities is not to be considered child support using De Novo and an abuse of discretion.

The Court should review the Chancery Court decision to calculate the amount of support due by White in going back to December 15, 2006, when the DHS Petition only requested the Court to rule on payments due from April 14, 2008 through August 31, 2008, using a De Novo standard and substantial evidence standard..

#### **CONCLUSION**

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