### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM T. WHITE

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO.

2009-CA-00537 t

# MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I certify that the following persons are interested in the above styled cause:

- 1. Hon. Debbra K. Halford, Chancellor
- 2. Hon. Lem Mitchell, Family Master
- 3. Timothy T. White
- 4. Tracey Farrell
- 5. Blaine White
- 6. Hayden White
- 7. The Mississippi Department of Human Services
- 8. Russell W. Holmes

Respectfully submitted, this the 9th day of October, 2009.

Russell W./Holmes

#

### **Procedural History and Facts of the Case**

On July 10, 2008, Tracey Farrell (hereafter "Farrell") opened a child support case with the Mississippi Department of Human Services, Division of Child Support Enforcement (hereafter "DHS"). Farrell came to DHS for assistance in enforcing a child support order for her two children, Blaine White and Hayden White, aged four and two, respectively. Timothy White (hereafter "White") had fathered both children out of wedlock. When Farrell came to DHS, she brought a recent Custody Order which also required White to pay \$670.00 per month as child support. This Custody Order was entered by the Pike County Chancery Court on April 14, 2008, but also reflected findings by the Chancellor in a bench opinion from February 19, 2008.

Prior to the Custody Order, the Court had entered an Agreed Temporary Order, in which White was required to pay \$500.00 per month as child support for the two children, beginning December 15, 2006. But initially, child support was set at \$400.00 per month by the Court in an Agreed Judgment, from April 5, 2005. Further, in DHS's interview with Farrell, Farrell signed an affidavit in the form of a Computation of Arrearage, which stated White owed her \$1,105.28 as of August 31, 2008, for delinquent child support.

In pursuit of the child support arrears, DHS filed a Petition for Contempt and Other Relief against White on October 8, 2008. In its petition, DHS asked the Court to adjudicate the arrears at \$1,105.28 and to incarcerate White until he purged himself of contempt. In addition, DHS requested the Court to issue an Order for Withholding and to order White to provide medical insurance for the children, along with payment of court costs and attorney fees.

DHS initially set the Petition for Contempt and Other Relief for hearing on December 11, 2008. However, White was not served with process, and therefore DHS needed to seek another date on which to present the case. DHS then reset the matter for hearing on January 8, 2009, but Farrell contacted DHS and stated she could not attend court due to medical reasons. Again, the case was rescheduled,

specifically to February 12, 2009, before the Honorable Lem Mitchell, Family Master.

After hearing testimony at trial from both White and Farrell, the Family Master requested that both sides submit authority on the issue of when the latest increase in child support should take effect, whether February 19, 2008, the date of the bench opinion by the Court, or April 18, 2008, the date when the Custody Order was filed with the Chancery Clerk.

Once the Family Master had received legal authority on the issue of the effective date of the increase in child support, the Family Master rendered its opinion on February 26, 2009. The Family Master concluded that the effective date for the increase in child support to \$670.00 should be March 1, 2008. The Family Master reasoned that since the Chancellor, in her bench opinion, had ordered the increase to take place on the first, but not specific as to which first, then the next first of the month should apply. The next first of the month after February 19, 2008, would be March 1, 2008.

As for the other issues raised in the trial, the Family Master concluded that White owed \$785.00 in delinquent child support, as of August 31, 2008. As a result, the Family Master ordered White to purge himself of contempt by paying the amount of \$785.00 by March 31, 2009. The Family Master did not allow White to receive credit against child support arrears for his contribution to school and recreational expenses. Furthermore, the Family Master neither allowed White credit for payment of medical bills nor allowed him credit for the children as dependents on his 2007 tax return, as these issues had been previously adjudicated by the Court. Lastly, the Family Master did not require White to obtain separate medical insurance for the children, as the Court had previously found the children to be enrolled in the Mississippi CHIPS program. The recommendation of the Family Master was approved by the Chancellor and became the final Judgment on March 8, 2009.

Subsequently, White filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court on March 4, 2009, which the Court denied on March 23, 2009. From the denial of his Motion for Reconsideration, White filed a Notice of Appeal on March 30, 2009, and thus this case comes before this Court.

### Appellee's Response to Appellant's Summary of the Argument, and Appellee's Argument

The first point of White's argument is the following:

Whether the effective date of the increase in payments was considered to be March 1, or May 1, 2008?

White is specifically referring to the effective date for the increase in child support from \$500.00 per month to \$670.00 per month. The bench opinion of the Chancellor, from February 19, 2008, stated that child support would increase to \$670.00. However, this bench opinion was later memorialized in the Custody Order, which the Court signed on April 14, 2008. White contends that the effective date of the increase to \$670.00 per month should be May 1, 2008.

DHS agrees with the finding of the Family Master, that the effective date of the increase in child support to \$670.00 per month, should be March 1, 2008. Although White may have not received a copy of the Court's Order until later, he was in fact present at the hearing on February 19, 2008. He was personally before the Court then and heard the Chancellor announce there would be an increase to \$670.00 per month, and that it would begin on the first of the month. As the Family Master reasoned, since the first day of February had already passed, one would naturally infer that the next first of a month would be March 1, 2008. Since White did not receive a prompt copy of the order, he has attempted to take advantage of the delay and forgo the child support increase until May 1, 2008. DHS believes it would be grossly unfair to steal two months of the children's support, due to a mere delay in preparing the Court Order, when White personally heard the Court announce its opinion.

In its earlier argument before the Family Master, DHS argued that the verbal ruling of the Chancellor on February 19, 2008, constituted a bench opinion of the Court, which became legally effective on the time and date rendered by the Court. Although the Family Master shared a difference of opinion on the exact date that the support should increase, the Family Master did not cast any doubt

upon upon the legal effectiveness of the Chancellor's verbal ruling.

In furtherance of his position here, it appears that White still contends that a ruling by the Court is not legally effective until a written order has been entered by the Clerk. DHS takes the position that this is a misreading of the rules, and DHS states that the filing of a written order is merely a ministerial act required by Rule 58 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. The official comments to Rule 54 state that "filing" simply refers to the delivery of the judgment to the Clerk for entry and preservation.

Therefore, the time of the filing of a judgment of the Court in no way affects the legal validity or force of that judgment. Furthermore, the legal effective date of a judgment would not be the date stamped-filed by the Clerk, as White contends, but rather the date upon which the Chancellor announced her ruling. By this reasoning, the legal effective date for the increase in child support would be at a minimum February 19, 2008, and certainly no later than March 1, 2008.

DHS recognizes that Rule 5.04 of the Uniform Chancery Court Rules indeed requires that a court order be submitted within 10 days of the Court's direction. However, it would be a misapplication of Rule 5.04 to allow it to be used as a technicality to negate an otherwise valid verbal ruling, when the delay was due to a procrastinating attorney.

It is unclear in this case what the exact reason is for the delay in entering the Court Order from the February 19, 2008, hearing, but no one is prejudiced in this situation more than the children, who stand to lose two month's of the increased support. The children, at ages 4 and 2 when the hearing occurred, should not be allowed to lose their vital child support, due to an incorrect and harsh application of Rule 5.04. Nothing in Rule 5.04 requires the Court to rescind its prior ruling, merely because an attorney did not strictly comply with the rule. Again, White was present when the Court announced its decision, and he should not be allowed to claim the advantage and prejudice his children, simply due to the mistake of someone else. White's obligation to his children is independent of any attorney's obligation to strictly comply with Rule 5.04.

The second point of White's argument is the following:

Whether the Custody Order filed on April 18, 2008, clearly instructed White of when the increase in child support was to begin?

White is relying on the language of the April 14, 2008 Order, which was later filed with the Clerk on April 18, 2008. This Court should bear in mind that the April 14, 2008 Order reflects the verbal opinion of the Chancellor from the hearing on February 19, 2008. In the argument above, DHS contends that White was personally present during the Court's announcement of an increase in child support to \$670.00 per month. His personal appearance and receipt of this information directly from the Chancellor on February 19, 2008, makes it irrelevant how clear the April 14, 2008 Order is. In fact, White should have notified his own attorney promptly that the April 14, 2008 Order perhaps did not perfectly recite the opinion of the February 19, 2008 hearing. Instead, White has used a possible ambiguity to clude his obligation to timely increase the support, although he personally heard the Court's instructions in the courtroom. It is DHS's position that White should not be allowed to seize upon a possible ambiguity, when this ambiguity did not exist earlier, and also when such an ambiguity would defeat the best interests of his children.

The third point of White's argument is the following:

Whether White should be found in contempt and due \$785.00 for failing to comply with an ambiguous order in which the Court found the effective date for support increase to be on March 1, instead of May 1, 2008?

The Family Master came to the conclusion, after resolving the effective date for the increase in support to be March 1, 2008, that White was in arrears \$785.00, for child support due until August 31, 2008. The Family Master calculated that the child support obligation due from December 15, 2006, until August 31, 2008, was \$11,270.00. He then subtracted the total payments made by White up until August 31, 2008, to be \$10,485.00. As a result, White retained a child support arrearage of \$785.00 as of August 31, 2008. The arrearage calculated by the Family Master was at variance with that of DHS.

In its Computation of Arrearage affidavit signed by Farrell, DHS had alleged the arrears was \$1,105.28 as of August 31, 2008. While the Family Master found an arrears to exist, he determined White to be in contempt of court.

DHS contends that the Family Master exercised sound discretion in concluding that White owed a child support arrearage of \$785.00. It was only after hearing testimony of both White and Farrell, and examining the exhibits offered by DHS and White, that the Family Master came to this conclusion. The Family Master was the trier of fact in this trial, and acted within his discretion to arrive at his conclusion that an arrears existed, placing White in contempt of court. In Barnett v. Lauderdale County Board of Supervisors, this Court reiterated its standard of review in an appeal of the trial court's findings of fact to say: "[i]n a bench trial the trial judge sits as the trier of fact and is accorded the same deference in regard to his findings as that of a chancellor, and the reviewing court must consider the entire record and is obligated to affirm where there is substantial evidence in the record to support the trial court's findings." Barnett v. Lauderdale Cty. Bd of Supervisors, 880 So.2d 1085, 1088 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004). In City of Jackson v. Lipsey, this Court went on to say: "[t]his Court recognizes that the trial judge, sitting in a bench trial as the trier of fact, has the sole authority for determining the credibility of witnesses." City of Jackson v. Lipsey, 834 So.2d 687, 691 (Miss. 2003). "Where there is conflicting evidence, this Court must give great deference to the trial judge's findings." Id. Further, this Court has stated that it will not disturb the findings of the chancellor unless those findings were clearly erroneous or the chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard. Peagler v.Measells, 743 So.2d 389, 390 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999). All of the above articulations of this Court emphasize a limited standard of review in examining and considering the findings of a trial judge. Ellison v. Meek, 820 So.2d 730, 734 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). In applying the standard of review this Court has previously set out, this Court should find that the Family Master did not err in reaching the decision of the effective date for the increase in child support, the decision that White owed \$785.00 in child support arrears,

and the decision that White is in contempt of court.

The fourth point of White's argument is the following:

Did the court err in including a \$250.00 payment for August 2007 in calculating the amount in arrearage, when White was previously found not in contempt on a Motion for Contempt filed by Farrell, on February 15, 2008, which included the payment in question?

The Family Master did not err in including a \$250.00 payment for August 2007 in calculating the amount in arrearage against White. In fact, both the Family Master and DHS (applying Farrell's Computation of Arrears from September 10, 2008) gave White credit for a payment of \$250.00 toward his child support. However, White met his obligation by only half for August 2007 since the full obligation amount due at that time was \$500.00 per month. There is no evidence in the record that White satisfied his obligation for August 2007 by paying an additional \$250.00. Therefore, it was proper for the Family Master to find a deficiency of \$250.00 still existed for the month of August 2007. Furthermore, the subsequent Custody Order from April 14, 2008, does not make any specific reference to the August 2007 payment, nor does it adjudicate any arrearage. The subject of the April 14, 2008, order is visitation, income tax application to child support, insurance and the child support increase. The Court then neither held the defendant in contempt nor acknowledged his compliance with previous orders of the Court.

The fifth point in White's argument is the following:

Whether the mere fact, that Farrell claims to have filed her 2007 IRS returns prior to the ruling by the Chancery Court on February 19, 2008, constitute reason enough for the court to not revisit the previous order of which was ambiguous as to whether White could begin to exercise his rights in 2007 or 2008?

DHS contends that it was within the discretion of Family Master to believe the testimony of Farrell, when she testified that she had already filed her 2007 tax return prior to the entry of the April 14, 2008 Custody Order. Again, the Family Master is the fact finder and has the burden of weighing the credibility of witnesses. This Court in Trittle v. Trittle stated that, "[a]s the finder of fact, the

chancellor is vested with the responsibility to hear the evidence, assess the credibility of witnesses, and determine ultimately what weight and worth to afford any particular aspect of the proof." Trittle v. Trittle, 956 So.2d 369, 373 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007), quoting Funderburk v. Funderburk, 909 So.2d 1241 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005). This Court went on to say that it will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor's when it comes to fact finding. Id. As the fact finder in this case, the Family Master heard the testimony of Farrell, found her credible and believed that she had in fact filed her 2007 tax return before the entry of the April 14, 2008 Custody Order. Meanwhile, White had the opportunity to cross-examine Farrell and to offer contradicting evidence. He offered nothing that contradicted the testimony of Farrell. As a result, White has failed to show that the Family Master abused his discretion or that the resulting decision was manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. This Court has stated that the abuse of discretion standard means that a judge's discretion would have to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous. Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005). Therefore, DHS requests that this Court apply its own deferential standard of review to the Family Master's decision to believe the testimony of Farrell, and to find that the Family Master did not err.

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